SJSU SAN JOSÉ STATE UNIVERSITY



Contracting Strategies: A Different Approach to Address Long-term Performance

Maria Calahorra-Jimenez, PhD



California State University Transportation Consortium

FRESN@STATE Discovery. Diversity. Distinction.

CSU TRANSPORTATION CONSORTIUM

ransweb.sjsu.edu/csutc

Mineta Transportation Institute

Founded in 1991, the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI), an organized research and training unit in partnership with the Lucas College and Graduate School of Business at San José State University (SJSU), increases mobility for all by improving the safety, efficiency, accessibility, and convenience of our nation's transportation system. Through research, education, workforce development, and technology transfer, we help create a connected world. MTI leads the <u>Mineta Consortium for Transportation Mobility</u> (MCTM) funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation and the <u>California State University Transportation</u> <u>Consortium</u> (CSUTC) funded by the State of California through Senate Bill 1. MTI focuses on three primary responsibilities:

Research

MTI conducts multi-disciplinary research focused on surface transportation that contributes to effective decision making. Research areas include: active transportation; planning and policy; security and counterterrorism; sustainable transportation and land use; transit and passenger rail; transportation engineering; transportation finance; transportation technology; and workforce and labor. MTI research publications undergo expert peer review to ensure the quality of the research.

Education and Workforce

To ensure the efficient movement of people and products, we must prepare a new cohort of transportation professionals who are ready to lead a more diverse, inclusive, and equitable transportation industry. To help achieve this, MTI sponsors a suite of workforce development and education opportunities. The Institute supports educational programs offered by the Lucas Graduate School of Business: a Master of Science in Transportation Management, plus graduate certificates that include High-Speed and Intercity Rail Management and Transportation Security Management. These flexible programs offer live online classes so that working transportation professionals can pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location.

Information and Technology Transfer

MTI utilizes a diverse array of dissemination methods and media to ensure research results reach those responsible for managing change. These methods include publication, seminars, workshops, websites, social media, webinars, and other technology transfer mechanisms. Additionally, MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. MTI's extensive collection of transportation-related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. MTI's research is funded, partially or entirely, by grants from the California Department of Transportation, the California State University Office of the Chancellor, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, and the U.S. Department of Transportation, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

Report 22-33

Contracting Strategies: A Different Approach to Address Long-term Performance

Exploring Long-term Performance in Design-Build Best-Value Evaluation Criteria

Maria Calahorra-Jimenez, Ph.D.

July 2022

A publication of the Mineta Transportation Institute Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

DOCUMENTATION FAGE				
1. Report No. 22-33	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No).	
4. Title and Subtitle Contracting Strategies: A Different Approach to Address Long-term		5. Report Date July 2022		
i chomaice		6. Performing Organizati	on Code	
7. Authors Maria Calahorra-Jimenez, Ph.D.		8. Performing Organizati CA-MTI-2130	on Report	
9. Performing Organization Name and Ad Mineta Transportation Institute	ddress	10. Work Unit No.		
College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219	11. Contract or Grant No. ZSB12017-SJAUX			
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Addres State of California SB1 2017/2018 Trustees of the California State University	13. Type of Report and Period Covered			
Sponsored Programs Administration 401 Golden Shore, 5 th Long Beach, CA 90802	14. Sponsoring Agency Code			
15. Supplemental Notes				
16. Abstract For cost-efficiency, public safety, and sust public administrations. Project delivery ar processes with this goal. While previous performance of highway projects, these stu- term performance. Thus, to fill this gap, considered in design-build best-value proce 100 projects procured between 2009 and 2 (1) roughly 11% of them related to long- proposal was lower than 30%. (3) Sixty-five to materials and technology, respectively. relationship between procurement practi- assessments remain top concerns in infrastr the U.S. and worldwide.	ainability, improving long-term perform ad procurement methods provide an op a studies have explored whether project idies did not focus on how core element this research explores how and to whether urement of highway projects. To this e 019 by 19 DOTs across the U.S. The a term performance. (2) The weight give e percent (65%) of long-term evaluation The results of this study are a steppin tees and actual project performance. ructure projects, this line of research may	mance in highway projects is oportunity to align design ar ct delivery methods impact s within project procurement nat extent long-term evaluat nd, the team conducted com- nalysis of 365 evaluation crit en to these criteria in the o criteria focused on design wh gstone to initiate a deep exp Currently, as sustainability benefit DOTs and highway	imperative for ad construction the long-term t relate to long- ion criteria are tent analysis on teria found that verall technical nile 15% related ploration of the and life cycle agencies across	
17. Key Words 18. Distribution Statem			771 N 1	
Design-Build, Procurement, Evaluation and assessment	Technical Information Service, Sprin	anapie to the public through ngfield, VA 22161.	I ne INational	
19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified	20. Security Classif. (of this page) Unclassified	21. No. of Pages 30	22. Price	

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Copyright © 2022

by Mineta Transportation Institute

All rights reserved.

DOI: 10.31979/mti.2022.2130

Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu/research/2130

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the California State University Transportation Institute Consortium (CSUTC) and the Fresno State Transportation Institute (FSTI) for funding this research. Also, the authors want to thank all the Department of Transportation officials that helped this research by providing knowledge and information. Special acknowledgement to Tanner Poore, research assistant for this study, for his commitment and hard work.

CONTENTS

Acknowledgmentsvi
List of Figures viii
List of Tablesix
1. Introduction
1.1 Evaluation Criteria and Long-term Performance2
2. Research Methodology 4
2.1 Data Collection
2.2 Content Analysis
3. Results & Discussion
3.1 Results
3.2 Discussion
4. Conclusions 11
Appendix A 12
Bibliography 17
About the Author

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Research Methodology	4
Figure 2. Number of Evaluation Criteria Identified	7
Figure 3. Long-term Evaluation Criteria per Assessment Focus	8

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Research Data	. 5
Table 2. Long-term Evaluation Criteria with a Focus on Design	. 8
Table 3. Long-term Evaluation Criteria with a Focus on Materials	. 9
Table 4. Long-term Evaluation Criteria with a Focus on Technology/Methods	. 9
Table 5. Projects Analyzed	12

1. Introduction

Improving long-term performance in highway projects is imperative for Departments of Transportation (DOTs). Highways that perform better over the long-term might optimize life cycle costs (Heravi & Esmaeeli, 2014). Further, better long-term performance leads to enhance sustainability in these types of infrastructures (Van Dam et al., 2015). Currently, there is a call for innovative approaches to reduce life cycle cost and enhance sustainability in transportation systems (AASHTO, 2009; Global Infrastructure Hub, 2021a, 2021b). Considering long-term performance under the lens of contracting strategies—such as project delivery and procurement methods—is an innovative approach to improve long-term performance and, in turn, life cycle cost and sustainability in highway projects.

The long-term performance of highway projects results from each DOT's management of the project design, procurement, and construction processes. Alternative project delivery and procurement methods—such as design-build and best-value—have the ability to play an essential role in establishing the tone to work towards pre-determined goals. For example, in design-build project delivery designers and constructors are hired together ensuring collaboration and providing room to innovate in their proposals (Gransberg et al., 2006). Best-value procurement, on the other hand, considers technical criteria in addition to cost in the proposals' evaluation, which enables highway agencies to select the best proposal based on technical criteria aligned with the project's goals (Scott et al., 2006). In both cases, procurement is the starting point in which highway agencies, potential designers, and constructors share the project's goals and draft the project action plan in alignment with those goals (Calahorra-Jimenez et al., 2020). In other words, procurement can incentivize design-builder's design and construction performance (Sanchez et al., 2014).

In design-build best-value procurement, highway agencies convey their goals, expectations, and evaluation criteria in the Request for Proposals (RFPs). Based on these expectations, design-build firms can prepare their proposals and the firm that best meets the DOT's goals and expectations would be selected based on the established evaluation criteria. Thus, the procurement provides an opportunity to align construction with long-term performance goals. However, are DOT's taking advantage of this opportunity? If so, what is the approach that they are taking?

Previous studies have explored whether project delivery methods impact the long-term performance of highway projects. They found that highway projects delivered using design-build delivery systems performed better than those delivered using design-bid-build (Abkarian et al., 2017; Cho et al., 2020). However, these studies did not explore the reasons for these results. Other studies examined how goals and evaluation criteria should be defined in the RFPs in order to be effective (Calahorra-Jimenez et al., 2020; Gransberg et al., 2006; NASFA/AGC, 2008). However, they did not focus specifically on goals and evaluation criteria related to long-term highway performance.

Thus, this research aims to fill this gap by exploring how and to what extent long-term evaluation criteria are considered in design-build best-value system of RFPs.

1.1 Evaluation Criteria and Long-term Performance

This study focuses on design-build projects that use best-value procurement. Best-value procurement considers other technical criteria in addition to price to evaluate and select the design-builder that will develop the work. This type of procurement provides an opportunity to meet long-term performance expectations if teams are selected with this goal in mind. Two core elements in best-value procurement are parameters and evaluation criteria (Keith. Molenaar & Tran, 2015; Scott et al., 2006). Best-value parameters relate to and are based on the project goals, and by using these parameters, highway agencies should determine the evaluation criteria for a given project.

The most relevant best-value parameters are cost, time, qualifications, and performance (Keith. Molenaar & Tran, 2015). On the other hand, the evaluation criteria assess the requirements established by the Departments of Transportation (DOTs)—that companies need to accomplish within their proposals. These evaluation criteria are project-specific and should depend on the project goals. Evaluation criteria should "represent the key areas of importance and emphasis to be considered in the source selection decision"; and "support meaningful comparison and discrimination between and among competing proposals" (US Federal Governent, 2002). Qualifications, quality, past performance, management solutions, technical solutions, and proposed design approach are some of the most common primary evaluation criteria used in best-value procurement (Anderson & Russell, 2001; KeithMolenaar et al., 2005; Keith Molenaar & Tran, 2015; Keith Molenaar et al., 2014; Scott et al., 2006).

Long-term performance is not listed as one of the most commonly used primary evaluation criteria. However, design-build best-value contracting might serve DOTs to assess each proposer's design alternatives and award the contract based on criteria that include capital cost and life cycle considerations (Gransberg & Molenaar, 2004). Life cycle considerations are becoming more relevant as the industry moves toward smart maintenance. According to Johannes et al. (2021), maturity in smart maintenance implies data-driven decision-making. This means that maintenance data and feedback should inform procurement. In other words, there should be an alignment between DOTs' goals, evaluation criteria (established in the procurement), and performance measures (obtained during the service of the project). In the design-build project delivery, each DOT defines functional performance requirements and construction behaviors and practices as in the procurement (Garvin et al., 2011).

Long-term performance requirements, according to Van Dam et al. (Van Dam et al., 2015), might relate to design, materials, and construction methods. In design, for example, achieving longer pavement life might imply using empirical mechanical designs to evaluate alternative materials, require higher materials quality, or improve construction specifications (for example, requiring less variability or greater density) (Van Dam et al., 2015). Examples of materials that can extend the life of asphalt pavements might be the use of Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA)—which can improve compaction by reducing compaction temperatures—polymers, or rubberized asphalt (Van Dam et al., 2015). Similarly, changes in construction methods, can extend pavement life by using placement or compaction equipment with smart technology, including thermal cameras and/or transfer vehicles to prevent segregation, or by using quality assurance technology such as nondestructive testing, infrared thermographic scanning, or intelligent compaction (Van Dam et al., 2015).

In summary, best-value evaluation criteria should be defined based on each project's goals and improving long-term performance might be one of these goals. In the procurement stage, goals should be conveyed into evaluation criteria, which should assess meaningful focus areas—such as design, materials, and methods—that contribute to achieving the related goals.

2. Research Methodology

This research aims to explore (1) to what extent design-build RFPs include long-term evaluation criteria; and (2) how long-term evaluation criteria relates to the areas of design, materials, and methods.

To this end, the study follows a three-step approach, as shown by Figure 1.

Figure 1. Research Methodology



First, through data collection, the researchers gathered 100 RFPs from 19 DOTs to be analyzed in the research. Second, the researchers used content analysis to identify, count and compare units of content embedded in the RFP. Finally, long-term evaluation criteria were categorized based on the focus of their assessment.

2.1 Data Collection

In design-build best-value procurement, highway agencies convey their goals and expectations in their RFPs. They also include the evaluation criteria used to assess proposals and select the best firm to develop the work. Thus, the authors collected 100 design-build RFPs from 19 Departments of Transportation (DOTs) across the U.S. (Table 1).

State	Number of RFPs	State	Number of RFPs
Arizona	1	Mississippi	6
California	3	New York	5
Colorado	4	North Carolina	5
Connecticut	1	Ohio	6
Florida	8	South Carolina	9
Georgia	3	Tennessee	4
Kentucky	3	Texas	5
Louisiana	7	Virginia	4
Maryland	10	Washington	10
Minnesota	6	Total	100

Table 1. Research Data

RFPs are public documents that can be downloaded from DOTs' websites. The RFPs collected for this research were used in highway projects procured between 2009 and 2019.

2.2 Content Analysis

According to Smith (2000), "content analysis is a technique used to extract desired information for a body of material by systematically and objectively identifying specified characteristics of the material...[thereby] yielding unbiased results that other qualified investigators can reproduce." Content analysis has been previously used in construction research. For example, Xia et al. (Xia et al., 2012, 2013) conducted content analysis to identify and classify evaluation criteria included in Request for Qualifications (RFQ) and RFPs used in different types of construction projects. Harper et al. (2014) conducted an extensive literature review and content analysis to summarize performance measures for cost estimating. Further, Stanford (2016) explored contracting strategies such as indefinite delivery-indefinite quantity contracting applying content analysis.

According to Fellows and Liu (2008), there are three types of content analysis, quantitative, qualitative, and structural. Quantitative content analysis aims to obtain numerical values such as rankings and frequencies from the categorical data obtained from the documents. Qualitative content analysis focuses on exploring the meanings of the data. Finally, structural content analysis seeks to examine the relationship between categories of data.

In this research, the objective of the content analysis is twofold. First, it aims to identify to what extent RFPs include long-term performance evaluation criteria. To this end, the researcher used quantitative content analysis. Second, the study seeks to explore how long-term goals and evaluation criteria relate to various assessment categories. To this end, the researchers conducted a qualitative content analysis.

Quantitative Content Analysis

Using the software dedoose, the RFPs were stored, identified, and codified. First, the researchers stored the RFPs in the dedoose's cloud-based environment. Second, the researchers identified each RFP using identification numbers (I.D.s) and information fields such as the year when the RFP was issued and the DOT's state. Finally, the researchers conducted a two-step coding approach. The research focuses on analyzing the evaluation criteria related to long-term performance. Thus, the first step in the coding process was identifying all the evaluation criteria within each RFP. To this end, the authors used "EVALUATION CRITERIA" and "CRITERIA" as keywords in this stage. In the second step, the focus was to codify any evaluation criteria related to long-term performance. In this case, the keywords used were "LONG-TERM," "MAINTENANCE," and "LIFECYCLE."

The researchers finalized the quantitative content analysis by determining the frequency of each of the codes defined.

Qualitative Content Analysis

Evaluation criteria with a focus on long-term performance were analyzed using affinity diagrams. According to Holtzblatt and Beyer (2016), "An affinity diagram is an inductive process that bubbles structure up out of the details of the user data."

Long-term evaluation criteria were categorized based on the focus of the assessment articulated by the evaluation criteria. In this regard, the researchers defined three areas of focus for improving long-term performance: design, materials, and methods.

3. Results & Discussion

This section presents the results obtained from the qualitative and quantitative contents analysis. The subsequent section provides a discussion on how these results relate with previous findings.

3.1 Results

Results from the quantitative content analysis of the 100 RFPs showed that 42 out of the 365 evaluation criteria identified (roughly 11%) related to long-term performance (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Number of Evaluation Criteria Identified

Further, the analysis showed that 63% of the states analyzed did include long-term performance information evaluation criteria in their RFPs.

After identifying the long-term evaluation criteria, the authors categorized each item based on the focus of their assessment, considering four categories, design, materials, technology and other topics.

Results from this analysis showed that 60% of long-term evaluation criteria focused on the assessment in the design, 15% in materials, 15% in technology, and 10% on other topics (Figure 3). The weight given to these criteria in the overall technical proposal was lower than 30%.

Figures 2, 3, and 4 show examples of how the categories of design, materials, and methods are articulated to assess long-term performance in the evaluation criteria.



Figure 3. Long-term Evaluation Criteria per Assessment Focus

Table 2. Long-term Evaluation Criteria with a Focus on Design

Design focus	Long-term performance feature under evaluation
Master design	Maximize performance and serviceability, minimize long-term maintenance cost
Design features	Reduce the need for maintenance or would make inspection/maintenance more effective
Design approaches	Minimize periodic and routine maintenance
Technical solutions	Long-term durability, service life, and considerations for future inspections and maintenance
Special design	Reduce future maintenance cost

In these cases, the long-term approach is assessed by asking the proposers to provide a design that reduces maintenance and maintenance costs and increases performance and durability.

Materials focus	Long-term performance feature under evaluation
Exceed minimum material requirements	Enhance the durability of the project components
Consider the type of materials	Reduce the need for future inspection and maintenance
Special materials	Result in a long-term reduction in maintenance.

Table 3. Long-term Evaluation Criteria with a Focus on Materials

Long-term evaluation criteria that focus on materials ask proposers to exceed minimum requirements or use special materials that reduce maintenance requirements and increase performance and durability.

Table 4. Long-term Evaluation Criteria with a Focus on Technology/Methods

Technology/Methods focus	Long-term performance feature under evaluation
Develop and deploy construction techniques	Enhance project durability, reduce long-term performance and routine maintenance
Consider methods	Reduce the need for future inspection and maintenance
Construction methods	Would reduce maintenance costs to the department

In the case of criteria addressing technology and/or methods, the long-term approach is assessed by asking the design-builders to propose construction techniques that reduce maintenance and maintenance costs and increase performance and durability.

Ten percent of the long-term evaluation criteria identified were categorized as "other." In this case, the long-term assessment referred to "temporary impacts and final site configuration" or general statements such as "initiatives that result in permanent benefit vs. temporary benefits."

3.2 Discussion

The purpose of this research was twofold. Firstly, to explore to what extent design-build RFPs include long-term goals and evaluation criteria. The research found that 63% of the states analyzed included long-term evaluation criteria in their proposals. However, only 11% of all evaluation criteria included in the RFPs focused on long-term performance.

Secondly, this research aimed to explore how long-term criteria related to design, materials, and methods. Long-term evaluation criteria were found to be secondary criteria included in three

primary criteria categories: design, management, and innovation. Within these categories, 65% of the evaluation criteria focused on design solutions to address long-term performance issues, while 15% emphasized materials and methods, respectively. Thus, the primary focus of long-term assessment is design, while materials and methods are less frequently considered. DOTs might evaluate what materials and methods have benefited the long-term performance of their projects and require them in the procurement of future projects. Further, they may use the "value-added" primary criteria to require materials and methods that enhance projects' long-term performance. Van Dam et al. (2015) provided examples of these materials, such as WMA that improve compaction, and methods like thermal cameras and transfer vehicles that might prevent segregation.

The results of this study are aligned with previous research, where long-term goals and evaluation criteria were not considered among the primary most commonly used criteria (Anderson & Russell, 2001; K. Molenaar et al., 2005; Keith. Molenaar & Tran, 2015; Keith Molenaar et al., 2014; Scott et al., 2006). Further, this research's findings contribute to the field of alternative project delivery by providing insight about how and to what extent long-term performance is being considered when crafting design-build best-value evaluation criteria. Thus, this study adds a new line of research to the current studies by Cho, El Asmar, S. Underwood, and Kamarianakis (2020), Abkarian, El Asmar, and S. Underwood, (2017) on long-term performance and design-build delivery.

This research shows the historical trend of design-build best-value evaluation criteria regarding long-term performance. Future research is needed to explore the relevance and effectiveness of including long-term evaluation criteria in the procurement of actual projects. To this end, surveys and case studies might be conducted on projects already procured and executed. The results from the analysis of best-value procurement evaluation criteria and long-term performance might establish the foundations to explore the impact that procurement practices might have on the actual performance of highway projects.

Conclusions

Improving long-term performance in highway projects is an imperative goal for DOTs, and procurement might be an opportunity to align the design and construction processes with this goal. This research's findings show that DOTs are not taking full advantage of this opportunity, with only 11% of the evaluation criteria analyzed assessing long-term performance issues.

This study is a first step to initiate a deeper exploration of the relationship between procurement practices and actual project performance.

Currently, with sustainability and life cycle assessments being top concerns in infrastructure projects, this line of research might be of particular interest to DOTs and highway agencies across the U.S. and worldwide.

Appendix A

Table 5 list all the projects whose Request for Proposals (RFPs) were analyzed in this research.

ID	State	Year	Name
1	Arizona	2018	Pima Freeway (SR 101) Interstate 17 to Pima Road. Design & Construct General Purpose Lanes
2	California	2011	Los Angeles County in the City of Baldwin Park at Route 10/605 Interchange
3	Ohio	2011	I-670/71 Interchange Improvement Design Build Project. Evaluation Criteria
4	Ohio	2011	I-670/71 Interchange Improvement Design Build Project. Project Scope
5	Colorado	2014	I-25/Cimarron Street (US 24) Interchange
6	Connecticut	2014	Rehabilitation of Bridge No: 03761, 03762, 03764, & 03765
7	Florida	2018	I-10 Widening from I-295 to I-95 Duval County
8	Georgia	2017	The I-84 Widening project
9	Kentucky	2019	Boone County
10	Louisiana	2009	Interstate-10 Widening. Instruction to proposers
11	Louisiana	2010	Interstate-10 Widening. Instruction to proposers. Appendix A
12	Maryland	2016	MD-32-MD 108 to North of Linden Church Road
13	Minnesota	2018	I-94 St. Michael to Albertville
14	Mississippi	2014	Woodrow Wilson Avenue Bridge over Mill Street
15	New York	2019	I-390 Interchange Improvements
16	North Carolina	2011	Replacement of bridges
17	Ohio	2011	I-70/I71 South innerbelt & I-71/I-670 Interchange
18	Ohio	2011	I-70/I71 South innerbelt & I-71/I-670 Interchange
19	South Carolina	2018	Interstate 26 Widening
20	Tennessee	2018	Interstate I-75 at Interstate I-24 Interchange Modification
21	Texas	2018	The I-20/I-69C Interchange Project
22	Virginia	2016	Route 606 Bridge Replacement over I-94 with 606 Improvements
23	Washington	2019	SR 167/70th Ave Vicinity Bridge Replacement Project
24	California	2012	I-15/I-215 Interchange Improvements Design-Build Project. Instruction to Proposers

Table 5. Projects Analyzed

ID	State	Year	Name
25	California	2010	San Mateo 101 Ramp Metering Design-Build Project. Instruction to Proposers
26	Maryland	2016	MD 404 - US 50 to East of Holly Rd (Add 1-5) - Design-Build Project - Request for Proposals
27	Maryland	2018	Area Wide Total Maximum Daily Load (Add 1-2) - Design-Build Project - Request for Proposals
28	Maryland	2017	US 219 - I-68 to Old Salisbury Rd (Phase 1) - Design-Builb - Request for Proposals
29	Maryland	2017	US 219 - I-68 to Old Salisbury Rd (Phase 2) - Design-Builb - Request for Proposals
30	Maryland	2018	MD 32 From Linden Church Rd to I-70 - Design-Build - Request for Proposals
31	Maryland	2016	MD 32 - MD 108 To North of Linden Rd - Design-Build Project - Request for Proposals
32	Maryland	2014	MD 4 from Forestville Rd to MD 458 (Silver Hill Rd) - Design-Build Project - Request for Proposals
33	Maryland	2016	US 113 (Phase 4) from North of MD 365 to North of Five Mile Branch Road - Design-Build Project - Request for Proposals
34	Maryland	2014	US 113(Phase 3) from North of Massey Branch to Five Mile Branch Rd - Design-Build Project - Request for Proposals
35	North Carolina	2018	I-440/US 1 from south of SR 1313 (Walnut Street) to north of SR 1728 (Wade Avenue); and Grade Separations on Beryl Road, Norfolk Southern Railway / North Carolina Railroad / CSX Transportation and NC 54 (Hillsboro Street) at SR 1664 (Blue Ridge Road) - Design-Build Project - Request for Proposals
36	North Carolina	2018	Statesville – I-40 / I-77 Interchange: I-40 from SR 2003 (Radio Road) to SR 2158 (Old Mocksville Road); I-77 from SR 2171 (Jane Sowers Road) to SR 2321 (East Broad Street); and SR 2321 (East Broad Street) from Vine Street to SR 2422 (Signal Hill Drive)
37	North Carolina	2018	Triangle Expressway Southeast Extension from east of Pierce Olive Road (SR 1389) to east of US 401
38	North Carolina	2018	Winston-Salem Northern Beltway Interchange at US 52 (Future I-74)
39	Ohio	2010	Bridge Over Cuyahoga River Valley on I-90
40	Ohio	2010	Bridge Over Cuyahoga River Valley on I-91
41	Florida	2017	SR 60 (Courtney Campbell Causeway) Old Tampa Bay Water Quality Improvement Project

ID	State	Year	Name
42	Florida	2016	I-4 Fog/Low Visibility Detection System
43	Florida	2015	SR 30(US 98) Pensacola Bay Bridge Replacement of Bridge No. 480035
44	Florida	2015	I-75 (SR 93) From S. of US 98/SR 50/Cortez Blvd To N. of US 98/SR 50/Cortez Blvd
45	Florida	2018	SR 679 (Pin Bayway) Structure E Intracoastal Waterway from N End of Boca Ciega Bridge to SR 682
46	Florida	2019	I-275 Howard Frankland Bridge from North of SR 687 to South of SR 60
47	Florida	2016	I-275 Sunshine Skyway Rest Areas and Seawall Repairs
48	Kentucky	2019	I-265, I-64, & I-265 Interchange Mobility and Safety Improvements
49	Kentucky	2019	I-275 Development between Interstate Exits 8 and 11
50	Virginia	2014	Route 7 and Battefield Parkway Interchange
51	Virginia	2015	I-64 Capacity Improvements - Segment II
52	Virginia	2016	I-64 Southside Widening and High Rise Bridge, Phase 1
53	Tennessee	2018	I-440, Widening from I-40 to I-24
54	Tennessee	2017	State Route 396 Saturn Parkway Extension
55	Tennessee	2019	US-64 (SR-40) Over Ocoee River Bridge
56	Colorado	2014	Eisenhower/Johnson Memorial Tunnel Fixed Fire Suppression System
57	Colorado	2017	Colorado Express Lanes Master Plan
58	Colorado	2014	I-25-Ilex Design Build
59	Louisiana	2013	US 90 (I-49 South) Albertson's Parkway to Ambassador Caffery
60	Louisiana	2006	New Mississippi River Bridge
61	Louisiana	2014	US 90 (Future I-49) LA 318 Interchange
62	Louisiana	2009	US 90 Interchange at LA 85
63	Louisiana	2009	Amite River Bridge to Juban Rd(WB) & Pete's Highway to Juban Road(EB)
64	Georgia	2018	I-20 at Savannah River Bridge Replacements and Roadway Widening
65	Georgia	2015	SR 299 at I-24 Bridge Replacement (Accelerated Bridge Construction)
66	South Carolina	2015	Interstate 20 Widening From MM 49-60
67	South Carolina	2019	I-85 Over Rocky Creek Bridge
68	South Carolina	2015	Port Access Road
69	South Carolina	2019	US 1 Over I-20 Interchange

ID	State	Year	Name
70	South Carolina	2014	Federal Aid Bridge Replacement Project Package E
71	South Carolina	2014	US Route 701 Bridge Replacements Over Yauhannah Lake, Great Pee Dee River and Overflow
72	South Carolina	2014	Interstate 85/385 Interchange Improvements
73	South Carolina	2016	Interstate 85 Reconstruction and Widening from Approximate MM 77 to MM 98
74	New York	2017	Region 11 Rehabilitation of Three Interchange Bridges
75	New York	2015	Region 8 Bundle Bridges(Contract 3)
76	New York	2018	Buffalo Station
77	New York	2017	Route 17 at Route 32 (Exit 131) Reconstruction
78	Mississippi	2009	I-59 Bridge Widening Project
79	Mississippi	2009	Extension of I-59/I-20 Merge Lanes and I-20 Bridge Widening Project
80	Mississippi	2010	I-55 District 7 Lincoln County
81	Mississippi	2011	Improvements to State Route 9 From US 278 to US 78
82	Mississippi	2013	SR 304/I-269 Project Design and Construction
83	Minnesota	2017	Willmar Wye Roadway Design-Build Project
84	Minnesota	2015	Steel Country Bridge Rehabilitation
85	Minnesota	2019	I-94 Monticello to Clearwater
86	Minnesota	2014	TH 2 Crookston Slope Stability from Groveland Ave to Pine Street
87	Minnesota	2022	I-35W North MnPass Express Lane
88	Texas	2014	SH 360 Addition of Toll Lanes and Frontage Rd Improvements
89	Texas	2015	SH 99 Grand Parkway Segments H, I-1 and I-2
90	Texas	2016	Southern Gateway Project - I-35E from Colorado Blvd to Soutn of I- 35E/US 67 Interchange
91	Texas	2018	The I-635 LBJ from East of US 75 to I-30
92	Washington	2018	I-5 Portland Ave to Port of Tacoma Rd-Southbound HOV
93	Washington	2019	SR 167/70th Ave E. Vicinity Bridge Replacement
94	Washington	2015	I-405 / SR 167 Interchange Direct Connector Project
95	Washington	2018	US 12 Wildcat Creek Bridge Replacement
96	Washington	2018	I-82 South Union Gap Interchange Ramps
97	Washington	2019	US 12/Nine Mile Hill to Frenchtown Vic.
98	Washington	2017	I-5 / NB MLK Jr Way to NE Ravenna Br - Pavement Repair
99	Washington	2014	SR 167 / 8th E Vic to S 277th St - Southbound HOT Lane

ID	State	Year	Name
100	Washington	2019	I-405 Renton to Bellevue Widening & Express Toll Lanes

Bibliography

AASHTO. (2009). Transportation and Sustainability Best Practices Background.

- Abkarian, H., El Asmar, M., & Underwood, S. (2017). Impact of Alternative Project Delivery Systems on the International Roughness Index: Case Studies of Transportation Projects in the Western United States. *Transportation Research Record*, 2630(1), 76–84. https://doi.org/10.3141/2630-10
- Anderson, S. D., & Russell, J. S. (2001). NCHRP Report 451. Guidelines for warranty, multiparameter, and best value contracting. Transportation Research Board of the National Academies.
- Calahorra-Jimenez, M., Molenaar, K., Torres-Machi, C., Chamorro, A., & Alarcón, L. F. (2020). Structured Approach for Best-Value Evaluation Criteria: US Design-Build Highway Procurement. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 36(6), 04020086. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000857
- Cho, N., El Asmar, M., Underwood, S., & Kamarianakis, Y. (2020). Long-Term Performance Benefits of the Design-Build Delivery Method Applied to Road Pavement Projects in the U.S. KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering, 24(4), 1049–1059. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12205-020-1814-3
- Fellows, R. F., & Liu, A. M. M. (2008). Research Method for Construction (3rd ed.). Blackwell Science.
- Garvin, M., Molenaar, K., Navarro, D., & Proctor, G. (2011). Key performance indicators in publicprivate partnerships. http://permanent.access.gpo.gov/gpo11086/pl10029.pdf
- Global Infrastructure Hub. (2021a). Infrastructure Monitor 2020. Infrastructure Monitor. https://www.gihub.org/
- Global Infrastructure Hub. (2021b). *Infrastructure Outlook*. Global Infrastructure Outlook. https://www.oxfordeconomics.com/recent-releases/99f4fa86-a314-4762-97c6fac8bdcbe40a%0Ahttps://outlook.gihub.org/%0Ahttps://www.oxfordeconomics.com/rec ent-releases/Global-Infrastructure-Outlook
- Gransberg, D. D., Koch, J. E., & Molennar, K. R. (2006). Preparing for Design-Build Projects. A primer for owners, engineers and contractors. In *Preparing for Design-Build projects*. A primer for Owners, Engineers, and Contractors. American Society of Engineers (ASCE).

- Gransberg, D. D., & Molenaar, K. (2004). Life-Cycle Cost Award Algorithms for Design/Build Highway Pavement Projects. *Journal of Infrastructure Systems*, 10(4), 167–175. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)1076-0342(2004)10:4(167)
- Harper, C. M., Molenaar, K., Anderson, S., & Schexnayder, C. (2014). Synthesis of Performance Measures for Highway Cost Estimating. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 30(3), 04014005. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000244
- Heravi, G., & Esmaeeli, A. N. (2014). Fuzzy Multicriteria Decision-Making Approach for Pavement Project Evaluation Using Life-Cycle Cost/Performance Analysis. *Journal of Infrastructure Systems*, 20(2), 04014002. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)is.1943-555x.0000170
- Holtzblatt, K., & Beyer, H. (2016). Affinity Diagrams. In *Contextual Design* (2nd ed.). Morgan Kaufmann (Elsevier).
- Johannes, K., Theodorus Voordijk, J., Marias Adriaanse, A., & Aranda-Mena, G. (2021). Identifying Maturity Dimensions for Smart Maintenance Management of Constructed Assets: A Multiple Case Study. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 147(9), 05021007. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)co.1943-7862.0002112
- Molenaar, K., Gransberg, D., Scott, S., Down, D., & Ellis, R. (2005). Recommended AASHTO Design - Build Procurement Guide.
- Molenaar, Keith., & Tran, D. (2015). NCHRP Synthesis 471. Practices for Developing Transparent Best Value Selection Procedures. Transportation Research Board of the National Academies. https://doi.org/10.17226/22192
- Molenaar, Keith, Harper, C., & Yugar-Arias, I. (2014). Guidebook for Selecting Alternative Contracting Methods for Roadway Projects: Project Delivery Methods, Procurement Procedures , and Payment Provisions. https://www.colorado.edu/tcm/sites/default/files/attachedfiles/TPF-5%28260%29 Project No 1 - Guidebook for selecting contracting methods -DRAFT FOR REVIEW_0.pdf

NASFA/AGC. (2008). Best Practices for use of Best Value Selections.

Sanchez, A. X., Lehtiranta, L., Hampson, K. D., & Kenley, R. (2014). Evaluation framework for green procurement in road construction. *Smart and Sustainable Built Environment*, 3(2), 153–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SASBE-05-2013-0028</u>

- Scott, S., Molenaar, K., Gransberg, D. D., & Smith, N. C. (2006). NCHRP Report 561. Best-Value Procurement Methods for Highway Construction Projects. Transportation Research Board of the National Academies. https://doi.org/10.17226/13982
- Smith, C. P. (2000). Content analysis and narrative analysis. In H. T. Reis & C. M. Judd (Eds.), Handbook of research methods in social and personality psychology (pp. 313–335). Cambridge University Press.
- Stanford, M. S., Molenaar, K. R., & Sheeran, K. M. (2016). Application of Indefinite Delivery– Indefinite Quantity Construction Strategies at the Federal Level. *Journal of Management* in Engineering, 32(5), 04016011. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000437
- US Federal Goverment. (2002). Code of Federal Regulations. Part 636. DB Contracting. 212-228.
- Van Dam, T. J., Harvey, J. T., Muench, S. T., Smith, K. D., Snyder, M. B., Al-Qadi, I. L., Ozer, H., Meijer, J., Ram, P. V., Roesler, J. R., & Kendall, A. (2015). *Towards Sustainable Pavement Systems : A Reference Document.*
- Xia, B., Chan, A., Zuo, J., & Molenaar, K. (2013). Analysis of Selection Criteria for Design-Builders through the Analysis of Requests for Proposal. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 29(1), 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000119
- Xia, B., Skitmore, M., & Zuo, J. (2012). Evaluation of Design-Builder Qualifications through the Analysis of Requests for Qualifications. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 28(3), 348– 351. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000095

About the Author

Dr. Maria Calahorra-Jimenez is an Assistant Professor in the Department of Construction Management at California State University, Fresno. Maria holds a Ph.D. degree in Civil Engineering from the University of Colorado Boulder and a Ph.D. degree in Engineering Science from the Catholic University of Chile. Before earning her doctorates, Maria worked in international engineering firms for 14 years.

MTI FOUNDER

Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta* Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation

Chair, Will Kempton Retired Transportation Executive

Vice Chair, Jeff Morales Managing Principal InfraStrategies, LLC

Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, PhD* Mineta Transportation InstituteSan José State University

Winsome Bowen Transportation Executive

David Castagnetti Co-Founder Mehlman Castagnetti Rosen & Thomas

Maria Cino Vice President, America & U.S. Government Relations Hewlett-Packard Enterprise

Grace Crunican** Owner Crunican LLC

Donna DeMartino Managing Director Los Angeles-San Diego-San Luis Obispo Rail Corridor Agency **John Flaherty** Senior Fellow Silicon Valley American Leadership Forum

Stephen J. Gardner * President & CEO Amtrak

Rose Guilbault Board Member Peninsula Corridor Joint Power Board

Kyle Holland Senior Director, Special Projects, TAP Technologies, Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority (LA Metro)

Ian Jefferies* President & CEO Association of American Railroads

Diane Woodend Jones Principal & Chair of Board Lea & Elliott, Inc.

Steven Keck* Acting Director California Department of Transportation (Caltrans)

Therese McMillan Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)

Abbas Mohaddes President & COO Econolite Group Inc.

Stephen Morrissey Vice President – Regulatory and Policy United Airlines Dan Moshavi, PhD* Dean Lucas College and GraduateSchool of Business, San José State University

Toks Omishakin* Secretary California State Transportation Agency (CALSTA)

Takayoshi Oshima Chairman & CEO Allied Telesis, Inc.

Greg Regan President Transportation Trades Department, AFL-CIO

Paul Skoutelas* President & CEO American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

Kimberly Slaughter CEO Systra USA

Beverley Swaim-Staley President Union Station Redevelopment Corporation

Jim Tymon* Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

* = Ex-Officio ** = Past Chair, Board of Trustees



Directors

Karen Philbrick, PhD Executive Director

Hilary Nixon, PhD Deputy Executive Director

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, PhD Education Director National Transportation Finance Center Director

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Security Center Director